S259522

**IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

RAUL BERROTERAN II,
Petitioner,
v.

**THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
LOS ANGELES COUNTY,**
Respondent.

FORD MOTOR COMPANY,
Real Party in Interest.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE
CASE NO. B296639

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

*FREDERIC D. COHEN (BAR NO. 56755)
LISA PERROCHET (BAR NO. 132858)
3601 WEST OLIVE AVENUE, 8TH FLOOR
BURBANK, CALIFORNIA 91505-4681
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (844) 497-6592
fcohen@horvitzlevy.com
lperrochet@horvitzlevy.com

SANDERS ROBERTS LLP

JUSTIN H. SANDERS (BAR NO. 211488)
DARTH K. VAUGHN (BAR NO. 253276)
SABRINA C. NARAIN (BAR NO. 299471)

ISSUE PRESENTED

Counsel attending an opponent's deposition of a witness *aligned with counsel's own client* generally does not cross-examine that witness, because there are seldom advantages to doing so and there are strong strategic reasons not to undermine the witness or telegraph trial strategies during discovery. The question presented here is whether trial courts must nonetheless assume that counsel *did* have a motive to cross-examine friendly witnesses at every deposition, creating a presumption that the deposition testimony may be admitted as *trial testimony* not only in the case in which it was taken, but also in future cases against the same party under a statutory exception to the hearsay rule that would otherwise bar such testimony.

INTRODUCTION

Each party preparing a case for trial bears the burden of gathering admissible evidence, often through conducting depositions to discover information that may later become evidence at trial in that case. The hearsay rule prevents a party from taking shortcuts in that process, generally barring admission of deposition testimony from a *prior* case at the trial in a *later* case. The Court of Appeal here misread Evidence Code section 1291's narrow exception to that rule, construing it so broadly as to all but destroy the hearsay rule's preference for in-court testimony. This Court should reverse, and reaffirm the contrary rule in *Wahlgren v. Coleco Industries, Inc.* (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 543, 546-547 (*Wahlgren*), which allows trial judges to apply a limited, case-by-case exception to the hearsay rule that—unlike the version espoused by Court of Appeal in this case—comports with the basic policy underpinnings of the hearsay rule, with the legislative intent behind Evidence Code¹ section 1291, and with the realities of discovery and trial court practice.

* * *

Everyone agrees that testimony from one case, when offered for its truth in another case, is hearsay. Section 1291, subdivision (a)(2) provides a limited exception to the hearsay rule: deposition or other testimony from one case is admissible as trial testimony in a later case where the party against whom the testimony is

¹ All further statutory references are to the Evidence Code unless otherwise indicated.

offered “had the right and opportunity to *cross-examine* the declarant [in the earlier proceeding] with an *interest and motive similar to that which he has at the [later] hearing.*” (Emphasis added.)

In *Wahlgren*, the Court of Appeal held that prior *deposition* testimony of a declarant aligned with the party against whom it is offered usually does not satisfy section 1291’s twin requirements of an interest and motive to cross-examine the witness similar to the interest and motive at a later trial in a different case—even if the subject matter of the two cases is similar. “[A] deposition hearing normally functions as a discovery device” and a party defending a deposition of its own employees or other aligned witnesses has little reason to participate in the process by engaging in cross-examination. (*Wahlgren, supra*, 151 Cal.App.3d at p. 546.) Indeed, the court recognized there are sound reasons *not* to undertake cross-examination during a deposition. (*Ibid.*) It would unduly lengthen depositions (prompting redirect, recross, and so forth). It also usually would serve no useful purpose in the prior action for the party defending the deposition to question the witness, as that party already knows what aligned witnesses are likely to say at trial. And engaging in cross-examination would put counsel defending the deposition in the position of prematurely revealing their litigation strategy. “At best, such examination may clarify issues which could later be clarified without prejudice. At worst, it may unnecessarily reveal a weakness in a case or prematurely disclose a defense.” (*Id.* at pp. 546-547.)

In other words—then as now—normal depositions are relatively passive affairs on the part of attorneys defending the deposition. Other than raising privilege objections and generally ensuring the procedure is a fair one, the defending attorney seldom elicits much in the way of substantive information from the deponent. Recognizing the practical reality that depositions are *not* mini trials, the court in *Wahlgren* accordingly held that the trial court properly excluded deposition testimony taken in a prior action raising related issues where the party attempting to introduce the hearsay evidence demonstrated no case-specific motive on the part of the objecting party to have “cross-examin[ed]” the witnesses at those earlier depositions. (*Wahlgren, supra*, 151 Cal.App.3d at p. 547.)

In *Berroteran v. Superior Court*, the Court of Appeal disagreed with *Wahlgren*. Its disagreement stemmed from a fundamentally different view about the role depositions play in litigation. The court in *Berroteran* thought that *Wahlgren*’s view of depositions as discovery devices was “outdated given the prevalence of videotaped deposition testimony in modern trial practice.” (Typed opn. 23.) The court raised the theoretical possibility that deposed witnesses may unexpectedly die or for other reasons become unavailable to give live trial testimony *in the same case* for which they were deposed, and reasoned that counsel defending a deposition must therefore be *presumed* always to have a motive to examine every deposition witness—even one aligned with counsel’s own client—just in case the deposition will be needed to replace live testimony at the trial in the case for which

the witness was deposed. (*Ibid.*; see Code Civ. Proc., § 2025.620, subd. (c)(2)(D) [deposition of unavailable witness admissible at the trial in which the deposition occurred].) From that premise, the court further presumed that the interest and motive to cross-examine one's own witness in a given case was necessarily similar to the interest and motive the party would have to examine the witness if brought in to testify live at trial *in a different lawsuit*, any time the two matters raised overlapping issues. (Typed opn. 25.)

With these presumptions, the court relieved the party seeking to introduce hearsay evidence of the burden of proving that its opponent, in fact, had an *actual* motive to conduct a cross-examination during the deposition in the earlier case that was substantively similar to the motive the party would have to examine the witness at trial in the later case. By looking solely at points of overlap in the merits of the former and latter litigation, the court created a fiction that any lawyer defending a witness at deposition on a particular subject matter will be motivated to examine that witness about similar issues that could arise in different cases, at different times, in different geographical, procedural, and strategic contexts.

The court's holding fails to defer to the trial court's discretion in finding no such motive existed. It overlooks legislative history that contemplates admitting prior *trial* testimony in a later action, but not prior *deposition* testimony of declarants aligned with the party who is raising the hearsay objection. It fails to appreciate that, unlike an attorney's direct examination to elicit a witness's

recollections and opinions, “cross-examin[ation]” referenced in section 1291 is meant to challenge the witness, such as by undermining the witness’s credibility or competence. This is seldom something a lawyer would reasonably do during the other side’s deposition of a “friendly” witness. And the holding drives up the cost for litigants and the burden on witnesses by requiring wide-ranging cross-examination during depositions, as lawyers try vainly to guess how their clients might be confronted with the deposition testimony in unknown future cases. The court’s ill-advised interpretation of section 1291 cannot stand.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Ford is sued in a 2011 class action in Illinois over alleged defects in diesel engines used in various vehicles between 2003 and 2007. After precertification discovery is conducted, the class action is settled.

In 2010, a class action was filed against Ford in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois that alleged defects in the company’s 6.0-liter diesel engine. (Vol. 1, exh. 8, p. 488.) In 2011, in the same Illinois federal court, the pending class action was merged into a multidistrict nationwide class action. (*In re Navistar Diesel Engine Products Liability Litigation* (N.D.Ill., July 3, 2013, Case No. 11C2496 [MDL No. 2223]) 2013 WL 10545508 (*In re Navistar*) [nonpub. final order and judgment]; typed opn. 5.)

The complaint in the multidistrict litigation broadly alleged “‘there were defects in the 6.0-liter diesel engine that Ford installed in a range of pickup trucks, sports utility vehicles, vans, and ambulances between 2003 and 2007.’” (Typed opn. 5.) It alleged Ford knew about problems but failed to disclose them to vehicle purchasers. (Typed opn. 6.) The complaint asserted no common law fraud claims, asserting only causes of action for breach of implied warranty, breach of express warranty, and violation of various state consumer protection laws. (Vol. 1, exh. 8, pp. 447-481.)

During the precertification stage of the class action, plaintiffs’ counsel deposed five current and former Ford employees in Michigan and Florida about the evolving design of the engine as used in various vehicles: Frank Ligon, Scott Eeley, John Koszewnik, Michael Frommann, and Mark Freeland. (Typed opn. 7; see vol. 1, exh. 9, pp. 792, 1150, 1231, 1827, 2119.) The questions focused principally on the period between 2002 and 2005, but often the questions were vague as to time. (See, e.g., vol. 1, exh. 9, pp. 1874, 1884-1885, 1892, 2171-2172, 2218, 2242.) Ford’s class action counsel in attendance, a stranger to the subsequent California litigation against Ford, *did not pose any questions to the witnesses*. (PWM 26 [verified allegation of Berroteran’s petition not disputed by Ford]; see vol. 1, exh. 9 [transcribed depositions of Eeley, Bob Fascetti, Freeland, Frommann, Koszewnik, and Ligon].)

After the precertification discovery, the parties settled the case in late 2012 or early 2013. (Typed opn. 6; vol. 1, exh. 4, p. 147.)

B. In this individual California action against Ford, Raul Berroteran seeks to rely at trial on hearsay deposition testimony from discovery in other cases, including the Illinois class action. Relying on *Wahlgren*, the trial court excludes the eight-year-old deposition testimony as hearsay.

In 2006, Raul Berroteran purchased a new 2006 Ford F-250 truck equipped with a 6.0-liter diesel engine. (Vol. 1, exh. 1, p. 13.) Berroteran alleges that when buying the truck, he relied on Ford's vague representations that the engine was "high-quality," "free from inherent defects," and was "'best-in-class.'" (Vol. 1, exh. 1, pp. 13-14; see typed opn. 4.) He alleges he suffered various breakdowns and needed to be towed. (Vol. 1, exh. 1, p. 14.) He took the truck to a Ford authorized repair facility for repairs, but says the repairs were not effective. (Vol. 1, exh. 1, pp. 14-15; typed opn. 4.)

In 2013, Berroteran opted out of the *In re Navistar* class settlement so that he could pursue an individual state court action in California. (Vol. 1, exh. 1, pp. 25-26; typed opn. 6.) After driving the truck for more than seven years, he sued Ford. (See vol. 1, exh. 1, p. 27:23-27.) The operative complaint asserts claims for several types of common law fraud, violation of the Consumers Legal Remedies Act (CLRA) (Civ. Code, § 1750 et seq.), and violation of California's "lemon law"—the Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act (Civ. Code, § 1790 et seq.). (Vol. 1, exh. 1, p. 11; typed opn. 4-5.)

Berroteran could have, but did not, notice the depositions of witnesses who had been questioned in the class action discovery, to examine them in the context of the present case. Instead, Berroteran planned at the 2019 trial in this case to introduce excerpts from the video depositions of the five current or former Ford employees taken years earlier in the class action discovery. (PWM 24-25, 37.) Berroteran also planned to introduce deposition testimony from three current Ford employees (Scott Clark, Eric Gillanders, and Eric Kalis) taken in lawsuits against Ford by other individual vehicle owners, and the deposition testimony of Ford employee Fascetti taken in a class action that involved ambulances. (PWM 32-34, 37.)

Ford moved to exclude the deposition testimony on the ground it was inadmissible hearsay that did not fall within any exception to the hearsay rule. (Vol. 1, exh. 2, p. 76; typed opn. 11.) Berroteran argued that the prior deposition testimony was admissible under the hearsay exception in section 1291.² (Vol. 1, exh. 4, p. 148.) Section 1291, subdivision (a)(2) provides that hearsay testimony from one case is admissible in a later case if the party against whom the testimony is offered “had the right and opportunity to *cross-examine* the declarant [in the earlier proceeding] with an *interest and motive similar to that which he has at the [later] hearing.*” (Emphasis added.) As the proponent

² Berroteran also argued the class action depositions were admissible under Code of Civil Procedure section 2025.620, subdivision (g). (Vol. 1, exh. 4, pp. 150-152.) The Court of Appeal here expressed no holding regarding application of that statute. (Typed opn. 14-15, fn. 8.)

of the evidence, Berroteran, was required to prove that Ford's attorneys in the 2011 and 2012 class action proceedings had the same motive and opportunity to "cross-examine" its employees and former employees during the depositions as the defense attorneys in this individual California case would have if the testimony were elicited live at trial. (Vol. 1, exh. 4, p. 148.)

Ford responded that Berroteran's showing was insufficient under *Wahlgren*. (Vol. 1, exh. 2, pp. 79-80.) The court in *Wahlgren* distinguished former deposition testimony from former trial testimony, holding that a party rarely has a motive to cross-examine its own witnesses at a deposition, so that prior deposition testimony from such witnesses generally is *not* admissible in later independent proceedings. (*Wahlgren, supra*, 151 Cal.App.3d at pp. 546-547.) *Wahlgren* created no categorical rule of exclusion, but explained that the trial court may take into account parties' tactical considerations—for example, not exposing its defenses—that fully justify a party's decision not to question a witness at a discovery deposition. (*Ibid.*) Other reasons to forego cross-examination at a deposition could include an understanding that the case is highly unlikely to go to trial (as is true in the vast majority of class actions), or that the aligned witness has agreed to be available to testify in person, or that other discovery not yet completed will obviate the need for further examination of the witness.

Citing *Wahlgren*, Ford argued Berroteran had not met his burden of proving the hearsay exception applies, noting that Ford "clearly did not have a similar interest and motive to examine its

employees at those depositions as it will have at trial in this case. Indeed, it is not established that Ford's counsel undertook any re-direct examination at the depositions.'” (Typed opn. 12; see vol. 1, exh. 2, p. 80.)

The trial court agreed, granting Ford's motion to exclude the deposition testimony. (Typed opn. 15; vol. 1, exh. 7, p. 331.) Berroteran filed a writ petition seeking reversal of that ruling. (See typed opn. 15.)

C. The Court of Appeal disagrees with *Wahlgren* and reverses the trial court's evidentiary ruling, holding that the hearsay deposition testimony is admissible based on a presumption that counsel routinely have an interest in cross-examining their own side's witnesses at depositions.

The Court of Appeal in *Berroteran* held, in express disagreement with *Wahlgren*, that a party *necessarily* has a motive to conduct cross-examination after opposing counsel has deposed a witness because it *theoretically* might become necessary to use the deposition *in the same case in which the deposition was taken*. (See typed opn. 22.) The court thus lifted the burden from the proponent of the hearsay evidence to demonstrate that the statutory exception to inadmissibility applies, and placed the burden on Ford, the party objecting to the hearsay evidence, to rebut the court's presumption that Ford had a similar motive to cross-examine aligned witnesses at their earlier depositions as it would have to cross-examine those witnesses if they testified at

Berroteran’s trial. (See typed opn. 25 [“Ford made no showing that it lacked a similar motive to examine its witnesses during their depositions”].)

Then, contrary to *Wahlgren*, the court held that tactical considerations bearing on the case for which the deposition was taken are irrelevant in analyzing whether a defendant had a similar motive to cross-examine its own witnesses as counsel would have at a live trial in a later case. (Typed opn. 19.) Under the court’s reasoning, a defendant refrains from cross-examining witnesses at depositions—on both the issues presented in the instant case, and every issue that *might* arise in a *future* case—at its peril.

Applying that logic here, the Court of Appeal concluded that Ford’s attorneys in the nationwide class action filed in Illinois, and in the other individual opt-out suits, must have had a sufficiently similar motive in those earlier depositions “to *disprove* the allegations of misconduct, and knowledge, all of which centered around the 6.0-liter diesel engine.” (Typed opn. 25, emphasis added.) It did not matter that Ford’s attorneys in those cases apparently did not believe their client’s interests would be served by such cross-examination, given that the attorneys did not in fact do so.

The court held this supposed motive in the prior case was enough to grant to Berroteran the procedural shortcut of not conducting his own discovery in this case, and instead relying on hearsay testimony from depositions other counsel conducted in the much earlier Illinois class action and other plaintiffs’ individual

actions. (See typed opn. 25.) The court did not address the fact that allegations are not proved or disproved in fact-finding discovery—they are disproved at trial, which is where the real motivation for examination of a party’s own witnesses comes into play. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal held the trial court *abused its discretion* by finding Berroteran had failed to meet his burden on the motive test under section 1291. (Typed opn. 27.)

On December 9, 2019, Ford filed a timely petition for review. On February 11, 2020, this Court granted Ford’s petition.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

- I. **Trial courts must retain discretion to exclude hearsay deposition testimony from earlier cases, consistent with the statutory language, legislative history, and practical realities of deposition practice.**
 - A. **Hearsay deposition testimony from an earlier legal proceeding is admissible under Evidence Code section 1291 only if the proponent of the evidence shows the objecting party had an actual interest and motive to cross-examine the deponent similar to the examination that would occur at trial in the later proceeding.**

Hearsay evidence is inadmissible because “an out-of-court statement is not subject to *cross-examination* to test the *declarant’s perception, memory and veracity* when the statement was made. Lacking the benefit of cross-examination . . . hearsay evidence is inherently *unreliable* as substantive proof.” (Wegner et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Civil Trials and Evidence (The Rutter Group 2019) ¶ 8:1002, p. 8D-1.)

As the Court of Appeal held in *Target National Bank v. Rocha* (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th Supp. 1, 7, quoting *Buchanan v. Nye* (1954) 128 Cal.App.2d 582, 585, “[t]he essence of the hearsay rule is a requirement that testimonial assertions shall be subjected to the test of cross-examination. [Citation.] The basic theory is that the many possible deficiencies, suppressions, sources of error and untrustworthiness, which lie underneath the bare untested

assertion of a witness, may be best brought to light and exposed by the test of cross-examination.’”

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