No. S259522

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

RAUL BERROTERAN

Petitioner and Respondent,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY

Respondent.

FORD MOTOR COMPANY

Real Party in Interest

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division One Civil No. B296639 Appeal from Los Angeles Superior Court, Case No. BC542525 Honorable Gregory Keosian, Judge Presiding

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KNIGHT LAW GROUP, LLP

*Steve B. Mikhov (SBN 224676) stevem@knightlaw.com Lauren A. Ungs (SBN 273374) laurenu@knightlaw.com 10250 Constellation Blvd., Ste 2500 Los Angeles, California 90067 (310) 552-2250 / F: (310) 552-7973

THE ALTMAN LAW GROUP

*Bryan C. Altman (SBN 122976)

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court Of Appeal Correctly Held ThatSection 1291(a)(2) Applies To These Depositions.

The Court of Appeal correctly held that section 1291(a)(2) erects no categorical bar to the admissibility of prior deposition testimony of a party's witnesses. The Court of Appeal also correctly held that the deposition testimony at issue here was admissible under the undisputed facts of this case.

A. Berroteran correctly declined to follow Wahlgren.

In rejecting the existence of any categorical bar, the Court of Appeal correctly disagreed with *Wahlgren*. That case is wrongly decided or at least distinguishable.

1. Wahlgren.

In *Wahlgren*, plaintiff was injured diving from a free-standing slide into an above-ground swimming pool.

He sued the pool manufacturer and others. (151 Cal.App.3d at p. 545.) The trial court denied his request to use two depositions "taken in a prior unrelated action" in another state, at which officers of the pool manufacturer testified about a "policy of

placing labels on pools which alerted users to the dangers of diving." (*Ibid.*)

In "a sparse opinion" (*Berroteran*, *supra*, 41 Cal.App.5th at p. 533), *Wahlgren* upheld the exclusion because (a) plaintiff never authenticated the depositions, and (b) the depositions purportedly did not meet section 1291(a)(2)'s requirements (*Wahlgren*, *supra*, 151 Cal.App.3d at pp. 546-547).

Wahlgren reasoned that the pool manufacturer lacked the same interest in cross-examining its officers at the deposition that the manufacturer would have at a trial. (Id. at p. 547.)

Wahlgren held that the "interest and motive" determination "should be based on practical considerations and not merely on the similarity of the party's position in the two cases." (Id. at p. 546, original italics.) "[A] deposition hearing normally functions as a discovery device. All respected authorities, in fact, agree that given the hearing's limited purpose and utility, examination of one's own client is to be avoided. At best, such examination may clarify issues which could later be clarified without prejudice. At worst, it may unnecessarily reveal

a weakness in a case or prematurely disclose a defense." (Id. at pp. 546-547.) 4

Wahlgren cited no authority for its sweeping assertions.

 Wahlgren is either distinguishable or wrongly decided, as it assumes depositions normally function merely as discovery devices.

Wahlgren said little about the depositions before it other than that they occurred in an unrelated out-of-state action. (See 151 Cal.App.3d at pp. 545-546 & fn. 1.) Because the deponents were officers of the corporate defendant, they could be compelled to attend any trial. (*Id.* at p. 545.) Thus, it is possible the depositions were mere discovery devices, taken in an unrelated

⁴ Ford claims that *Byars v. SCME Mortgage Bankers, Inc.* (2003) 109 Cal.App.4th 1134, 1150 reaches "the same conclusion" as *Wahlgren.* (Op. Br. 24.) But that so-called "conclusion" is merely dicta traceable to *Wahlgren.* In affirming summary judgment for a defendant, *Byars* upheld exclusion of an expert deposition taken in a case involving a *different* defendant where nothing indicated the expert was unavailable. (See *Byars, supra,* 109 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1149-1150.) In dicta, *Byars* quotes another case, *Gatton v. A.P. Green Services, Inc.* (1998) 64 Cal.App.4th 688, 694-695 (*Gatton*), which was quoting *Walhgren*, also in dicta. *Gatton* involved an *available* witness and a *different* defendant in the prior proceeding; this Court later disapproved *Gatton*'s decision to exclude the deposition. (See *Sweetwater Union High School Dist. v. Gilbane Building Co.* (2019) 6 Cal.5th 931, 944, fn. 8.)

lawsuit involving different plaintiffs and different claims. (*Id.* at pp. 545-546.) If so, *Wahlgren* is readily distinguishable.

The depositions here were taken to establish trial evidence; the lawsuits are class actions and opt-out lawsuits modeled on each other that involve the same fraud claims and overlapping issues; and the deposition testimony already has been used as evidence in other opt-out trials involving the same claims.

Regardless, Wahlgren's sweeping statements that depositions "normally function as a discovery device" and have "limited purpose and utility" (151 Cal.App.3d at p. 546) are outdated and wrong. As Berroteran recognized, these assumptions "are unsupported by legal authority, inconsistent with modern trials and the omnipresence of videotaped depositions during trial, and contrary to persuasive federal law interpreting an analogous hearsay exception." (41 Cal.App.5th at p. 521.) "Wahlgren—a 1984 case—cites no support for its assertions that a deposition functions only as a discovery device. That assumption is at best outdated given the prevalence of videotaped deposition testimony in modern trial practice." (Id. at p. 533.)

Berroteran is correct: When Wahlgren was decided in 1984, the videotaping of depositions was rare and was not even authorized in California. (See Emerson Electric Co. v. Superior Court (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1101, 1108-1109 [Legislature authorized videotaping in 1986].) And, indeed, there is only one reason for a party to incur the extra cost of videotaping depositions:

To be able to play the testimony to a jury. There is no reason to videotape depositions taken solely for discovery purposes.

(See Dunne on Depositions in California (Sept. 2019 update) § 10:5 ["[v]ideotaped testimony is much more interesting and effective at trial than the reading of a deposition transcript"].)

Wahlgren's comment that a deposition of one's own client is of "limited purpose and utility" (151 Cal.App.3d at p. 546) could only ever make sense for testimony never intended to be played in court. But where, as here, videotaped depositions are taken to establish trial evidence, parties who decide not to ask questions assume the risk of the witness being unavailable at trial. Indeed, as Berroteran observed, Wahlgren's blanket assumption "appears inconsistent with the reality of often overlapping lawsuits in different jurisdictions and the prospect that an important witness could retire or otherwise become unavailable." (Berroteran, supra, 41 Cal.App.5th at p. 533; see also Wright Root Beer Co. of New Orleans v. Dr. Pepper Co. (5th Cir. 1969) 414 F.2d 887, 890 (Wright) ["The unexpected is to be expected at the trial of cases,

including the necessity for using depositions when the deponent has met an untimely death before trial"].)

As one practice guide puts it: "[L]awyers know there is always some risk that a witness will die or disappear before trial even if the prospect seems remote, in which case the deposition is admissible. Hence every lawyer knows that there is some risk in not questioning the witness, and every party has some motive to do so and can ill afford to be silent if the witness says anything that might be damaging at trial. In this setting, it becomes plausible to say that not asking questions should be viewed as a calculated risk. By extension of the same logic, when a deposition taken in one case is offered in the trial of another against a party who has a 'similar motive' in both to develop the testimony, that party cannot very well complain that he would have done things differently if the deposition had been taken in the current proceeding." (5 Mueller & Kirkpatrick, Federal Evidence (4th ed. 2020 update) § 8:121, italics added.)

Wahlgren's treatment of depositions as of "limited purpose and utility" is particularly erroneous where, as here, deponents reside beyond the court's subpoena powers, including in multidistrict litigation involving cases from across the country. "A party who makes the tactical decision during a deposition to refrain from examining a witness who is beyond the subpoena

power of the court, takes the risk that the testimony could be admitted at trial if the witness will not or cannot appear voluntarily." (*Henkel v. XIM Products, Inc.* (D.Minn. 1991) 133 F.R.D. 556, 557.) Failure to question a deponent "when it is known that the deposition will be used in lieu of live testimony . . . is a tactical decision with which a party must live." (*Ware v. Howell* (W.Va. 2005) 614 S.E.2d 464, 470.)

That tactical decision cannot be used as a shield.

B. Berroteran's application of section 1291(a)(2) comports with the statute's plain language.

In disagreeing with Wahlgren, Berroteran correctly interpreted section 1291(a)(2). Courts construing a statute must ascertain the Legislature's intent "so as to effectuate the purpose of the enactment." (Cummins, Inc. v. Superior Court (2005) 36 Cal.4th 478, 487.) They "look first to the words of the statute, which are the most reliable indications of the Legislature's intent," construing words "in context, and harmoniz[ing] the various parts of an enactment by considering the provision at issue in the context of the statutory framework as a whole."

(Ibid.) Courts give words "a plain and commonsense meaning"—that "plain meaning controls" if the language is unambiguous.

(Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority v.

Alameda Produce Market, LLC (2011) 52 Cal.4th 1100, 1107.)
Courts may consider extrinsic aids, such as legislative history,
only if "the language supports more than one reasonable
construction." (*Ibid.*)

Here, Section 1291(a)(2)'s plain language only supports Berroteran's construction.

> Section 1291(a)(2)'s plain language does not differentiate between deposition and trial testimony.

Ford argues that section 1291(a)(2) makes former trial testimony generally admissible, but not former deposition testimony. (Op. Br. 25.) The statute's plain language does not support this distinction. Ford's theory "conflicts with the plain language of section 1291, subdivision(a)(2), which on its face is unqualified: The statute states that it applies to '[t]he former testimony' and is not limited to former 'trial testimony.' (§ 1291, subd.(a)(2).)" (Berroteran, supra, 41 Cal.App.5th at pp. 533-534.)

2. Section 1291(a)(2)'s plain language merely requires the *opportunity* to cross-examine, not actual examination.

Ford suggests a party must have actually cross-examined its own witness for section 1291(a)(2) to apply. Not so.

Section 1291(a)(2) merely requires "the right and opportunity to cross-examine the declarant," not that the party against whom the testimony is offered actually examined the declarant. (Italics added.)

When section 1291(a)(2) was enacted, it was long recognized that the *opportunity* to ask questions is what matters: "The principle requiring a testing of testimonial statements by cross-examination has always been understood as requiring, not necessarily an actual cross-examination, but merely an opportunity to exercise the right to cross-examine if desired. The reason is that, wherever the opponent has declined to avail himself of the offered opportunity, it must be supposed to have been because he believed that the testimony could not or need not be disputed at all or be shaken by cross-examination. In having the opportunity and still declining, he has had all the benefit that could be expected from the cross-examination of that witness. This doctrine is perfectly settled." (5 Wigmore, Treatise on the Anglo-American System of Evidence in Trials at Common Law (3d ed. 1940) § 1371, p. 51, first emphasis in original, second added [edition when section 1291(a)(2) enacted]; see 5 Wigmore, Evidence in Trials at Common Law (1974 Chadbourn rev.) § 1371, pp. 55-56 [same language in edition post-dating statute's enactment].)

Thus, section 1291(a)(2)'s hearsay exception tracks the "chief reasons for excluding hearsay evidence," which are "(a) [t]he statements are not made under oath[,] (b) [t]he adverse party has no opportunity to cross-examine the person who made them[,] [and] (c) [t]he jury cannot observe the person's demeanor as he or she makes them." (1 Witkin, Cal. Evidence (5th ed. 2020 update) Hearsay, § 1.)

The depositions here are admissible because they are sworn statements where the same defendant had the opportunity to cross-examine. Even the "cannot observe demeanor" concern is irrelevant here because the depositions were videotaped.

3. Section 1291(a)(2)'s plain language focuses on *cross*-examination.

Section 1291(a)(2)'s use of "cross-examination" indicates that the Legislature's focus was the testimony of third-party witnesses or an opposing party's witnesses, not a party's own witnesses. As Ford admits, "cross-examination" is "meant to challenge the witness, such as by undermining the witness's credibility or competence," which "is seldom something a lawyer would reasonably do during the other side's deposition of a 'friendly' witness." (Op. Br. 14.)

Where, as here, a party's counsel represented the party's own witnesses at the prior deposition, that party can shape the testimony to ensure trustworthiness—the concern underlying hearsay exceptions—without even asking questions. Its counsel can prepare witnesses before their deposition (as Ford's counsel did here), coach them or instruct them to clarify testimony during depositions (as Ford's counsel presumably did here), and assert objections or instruct the witness not to answer particular questions (as Ford did here). Thus, although a party does not "cross-examine" friendly witnesses, it certainly still has a motive and interest to ensure their sworn testimony is reliable and has the ability to shape the testimony. A party has no such ability with non-aligned witnesses.

The notion that "cross-examination" is essential to ensure the accuracy—and, thus, admissibility—of *all* deposition testimony sweeps too far. There is no reason for a party to ever "cross-examine" a witness regarding straightforward factual questions like a person's job title, whether she made prior statements, or whether she authored emails.

The present case is a good example: Much of the testimony involved undisputed historical facts not subject to refutation. Yet Ford's construction of section 1291(a)(2) would exclude the *entire* deposition. That is not what the Legislature intended.

4. Section 1291(a)(2)'s plain language should be construed in conjunction with CCP 2025.620(g).

The overall statutory framework for using former deposition testimony as trial evidence is also contrary to Ford's construction. That statutory framework includes CCP 2025.620(g). That statute applies to depositions taken in a prior action involving "the same subject matter" and "the same parties or their representatives or successors in interest." (CCP 2025.620(g).) This is a standalone hearsay exception. (*Ibid.* ["[a] deposition previously taken may also be used as permitted by the Evidence Code"]; 12FMJN/2954.)

The Legislature has thus concluded that if a prior action involves the same parties and same subject matter, the depositions bear sufficient trustworthiness to warrant a hearsay exception no matter who asked questions at the prior deposition. Under Ford's view, the parties most likely would not have questioned their own witnesses. Yet those depositions are admissible under CCP 2025.620(g) if a witness is unavailable.

Berroteran argued below that CCP 2025.620(g) applies to the Class Action depositions because (a) he was a party in that litigation as a putative class member until opting out, and (b) the Class Action and opt-out lawsuits involve the same subject matter. (Fn. 1, *ante*.) The very reason courts toll the statute of limitations for opt-out lawsuits is because the putative members stand "as parties to the [class action] suit" until they opt-out, and the opt-out lawsuits involve the same subject matter. (*American Pipe & Const. Co. v. Utah* (1974) 414 U.S. 538, 551, 554.)

Although the Court of Appeal never reached this issue, CCP 2025.620(g) confirms that a close interrelationship between the parties and issues is what matters for hearsay-exception purposes. Regardless whether the Class Action depositions meet CCP 2025.620(g)'s "same parties" and "same subject matter" requirement, the depositions here are all from related actions involving related issues and related parties. Berroteran and the other-opt out plaintiffs were all putative members of the same class action involving the same defendant and same issues. There were sufficient indicia of trustworthiness to be admissible.

C. This Court's precedent supports *Berroteran*'s application of section 1291(a)(2).

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